Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: August 29, 2022 ACCEPTED: October 23, 2022 PUBLISHED: November 10, 2022

Higher form symmetries TFT in 6d

Fabio Apruzzi

Albert Einstein Center for Fundamental Physics, Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Bern, Sidlerstrasse 5, CH-3012 Bern, Switzerland

E-mail: fabio.apruzzi@gmail.com

ABSTRACT: Symmetries and anomalies of a d-dimensional quantum field theory are often encoded in a (d+1)-dimensional topological action, called symmetry topological field theory (TFT). We derive the symmetry TFT for the 2-form and 1-form symmetries of 6d (1,0)field theories, focusing on theories with a single tensor multiplet (rank 1). We implement this by coupling the low-energy tensor branch action to the background fields for the higher-form symmetries and by looking at the symmetry transformation rules on dynamical and background fields. These transformation rules also imply a mixing of the higher-form symmetries in a 3-group structure. For some specific and related higher rank cases, we also derive the symmetry TFT from the holographic dual IIA supergravity solutions. The symmetry TFT action contains a coupling between the 2-form symmetry and the 1-form symmetry backgrounds, which leads to a mixed anomaly between the 1-form symmetries of the 5d KK-theory obtained by circle compactification. We confirm this by a pure 5d analysis provided by the 5d effective low-energy Coulomb branch Lagrangian coupled to background fields. We also derive the symmetry TFT for 5d SU(p) supersymmetric gauge theories with Chern-Simons level q and for 5d theories without non-abelian gauge theory description at low-energy. Finally, we discuss the fate of the 2-form and 1-form symmetry of rank 1 6d field theories when coupled to gravity.

KEYWORDS: Anomalies in Field and String Theories, Field Theories in Higher Dimensions, Global Symmetries, Topological Field Theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 2203.10063



Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	2-form and 1-form symmetries TFT from the tensor branch	4
	2.1 Examples: rank 1 6d SCFTs	6
3	SymTFT from holography	7
4	A 5d perspective	9
	4.1 Derivation from 5d	9
	4.2 SymTFT for 6d theories from compactification	10
	4.3 SymTFT for rank 1 6d theories from 5d	11
	4.4 5d $SU(p)_q$ gauge theories	12
	4.5 5d "non-Lagrangian" theories	13
5	Fate of 2-form symmetries in 6d supergravity	14

1 Introduction

Symmetries are key in quantum field theory and they constrain the spectrum of states and local operators. The notion of symmetry has been extended to include generalized higher form symmetries [1], which constrain the spectrum of extended objects like for instance Wilson and 't Hooft lines of a gauge theory. A generalized *p*-form symmetry, $\Gamma^{(p)}$, is generated by a (charge) topological operator U_g supported on a (d - p - 1)-dimensional subspace, M^p of *d*-dimensional space-time, and it acts on a *p*-dimensional object (when p > 0 these are sometimes called defects), which is defined as the charge object. The standard case is when p = 0, where the charged object are point particle operators \mathcal{O} , whereas the charge operator U_g is supported on a (d-1)-dimensional manifold surrounding \mathcal{O} . In general, we have that the linking of the topological operator with the charged one gives the symmetry group element, $q(\mathcal{O})$, as follows,

$$U_g\left(M^{d-p-1}\right)\mathcal{O}\left(M^p\right) = g\left(\mathcal{O}\right)\mathcal{O}\left(M^p\right)U_g\left(M^{d-p-1}\right).$$
(1.1)

Higher form symmetries can be both continuous and discrete but they are abelian by construction.

These generalized symmetries are present in many physical system of interest to condensed matter and particle physics, from d = 2 space-time dimensions [2] to d = 4. In particular, 1-form symmetries can be present in gauge theories. Gauge theories with adjoint or no matter have discrete 1-form symmetries corresponding to the center of the gauge group Z(G), and they act on line operators of the gauge theory, which can be Wilson

or 't Hooft lines. In addition, 1-form symmetries depend on and are closely related to the global structure of the gauge group as seen in [1, 3]. The presence of matter fields can break the 1-form symmetries by screening, that is a phenomenon consisting in the matter particles ending on the line operator, making the topological operator that define the symmetry, U_g , trivial. 1-form symmetries are present in gauge theories in any dimensions from d = 2, 3, 4 [4–8] to d > 4 [9–12]. In Higher dimensions (d > 4), Lagrangian field theories can only be effective low-energy descriptions of interacting strongly coupled field theories, whose existence has been predicted via string theory geometric constructions, such as superconformal field theories (SCFTs). In particular, 6d (1,0) and (2,0) theories have also 2-form symmetries due to the presence of dynamical anti-symmetric tensor fields [1, 13]. The knowledge of standard and generalized symmetries provide a useful tool to constrain local and extended objects of higher dimensional field theories as well. Moreover, string theory together with geometric engineering provide frameworks where all possible symmetries can be computed from the boundary geometry [9, 10, 12, 14–18].

Generalized *p*-form symmetries can have 't Hooft anomalies, which are robust quantities expressed in terms of the background fields of these symmetries. One or more symmetries might be involved, in this case the anomaly is called mixed. In particular, they are seen as the obstruction for gauging all the involved symmetries. If an effective Lagrangian description exists, these anomalies can be computed by coupling the theory to the background field for the p-form symmetry, that is a (p + 1)-form gauge field. 't Hooft anomalies are quantized quantities, which do not depend on any scale and therefore they are robust under RGflow. For this reason, they have been importantly used to constrain the strongly coupled dynamics of interacting quantum field theory via what is indeed called anomaly matching. For instance, in 4d adjoint QCD theories there are anomalies between the chiral symmetry (which acts on the fermions and the θ -parameter) and the 1-form constrains the infra-red (IR) physics [1, 7, 19–23], and predict certain non-trivial features of the strongly coupled regime, which are difficult to access otherwise. Anomalies of generalized symmetries are present also in higher d > 4 dimensions. In 5d supersymmetric SU(N) gauge theories with no massless matter and with possibly a classical Chern-Simons level [24], there is a mixed anomaly between the instanton symmetry, given by the following topological current $J_I = *_5 \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr}(f \wedge f)$ and the 1-form symmetry \mathbb{Z}_N [25]. When the classical Chern-Simons level is present, there is also a cubic 't Hooft anomaly for the 1-form symmetry [26].

Symmetries, anomalies and the choice of global structure of a d-dimensional theory can be encoded in a (d + 1) topological field theory action [27–37]. This (d + 1)-dimensional theory is called symmetry topological field theory (Symmetry TFT or SymTFT). String theory and geometric engineering provide a systematic framework to compute the symmetry TFT of the engineered models via tools described and developed in [38]. 5d SCFTs are engineered by 3-dimensional Calabi-Yau cones in M-theory or IIB five-brane webs. As described in [38], the symmetry TFT for these theories has been derived by reducing the topological couplings of 11d supergravity on the boundary of the Calabi-Yau cones or from the IIB webs. We also remark that the topological action obtained from supergravity usually contains continuous field. This is different from the standard notion of Symmetry TFT introduced in [27, 31], which relies on discrete gauge fields. In the latter case the existence of a gapped (topological) boundary condition, which fixes the theory at the boundary, is basically guaranteed. Depending on the space-time dimensions of the system, when continuous fields are present in the topological action this can be not true any longer, and topological boundary conditions might not exist. This is indeed the case for 7d bulk topological theory of 6d theories with (1,0) and (2,0) theories. For instance, 7d Chern-Simons theory does not allow for gapped boundary condition in general, which is consistent with the fact that the 6d theories are generically relative (i.e. they do not have a partition function, but rather a partition vector). Given this caveat, we will extend a little the meaning of the definition for symmetry TFT and still call the 7d topological bulk theory the symmetry TFT for the 6d system, even if a gapped boundary condition might not exist.

In this paper we derive the symmetry TFT involving 1-form symmetries and 2-form symmetries of 6d (1,0) SCFTs from their tensor branch description (see [29, 30] for the (2,0) case), by using the bosonic Lagrangian of the theory when the scalar components of the tensor multiplets acquire non-vanishing vacuum expectation value (vev). This is done by generalizing to higher dimensions the 4d Maxwell theory case analyzed in [1, 39]. The SymTFT is derived by coupling the Lagrangian to the higher-form symmetry backgrounds, and by analyzing the transformation rules of these symmetries on the various dynamical and background fields. A first consequence of the 1-form symmetry transformation is that the background field for the 2-form symmetry should transform accordingly, i.e. by mixing with 1-form symmetry transformations in order to avoid dangerous ambiguities that depend on dynamical fields. This signals the presence of a 3-group structure. Moreover, some ambiguities cannot be reabsorbed by counterterms, but rather by a 7d topological action. This is the symmetry TFT for the 6d theories, and in this case is not invertible, which means that the theory living at the boundary does not have a partition function but rather a partition vector (see [27, 31] for the definition of invertible TFT). In general, there can be boundary conditions leading to a theory at the boundary that is absolute, i.e. with a well defined partition function. This symmetry TFT contains also a coupling between the 2-form and the 1-form symmetry backgrounds. We then discuss explicit examples, focusing on (tensor branch) rank 1 theories. We also study absolute theories coming from these rank 1 SCFTs, and combinations thereof. The nontrivial coupling between the 2-form and 1-form symmetry of the symmetry TFT does not lead to a mixed anomaly for any of the absolute theories studied. To support this we provide a derivation of the symmetry TFT for some specific examples constructed holographically via the $AdS_7 \times M_3$ solutions of IIA supergravity in [40, 41] with orientifold $O6^+$ planes sources with D6 branes on top. This is done by reducing on M_3 the topological coupling of IIA supergravity, including Chern-Simons couplings related to the brane sources, see [32-35, 37, 42, 43] for similar examples. Subsequently, we study the compactification on S^1 of this symmetry TFT on a circle. This consists of the symmetry TFT for the 5d $\mathcal{N} = 1$ kk-theory (which uplift to the 6d (1,0) SCFT in the UV). In this case there are choices of boundary conditions which lead to absolute theories with an invertible symmetry TFT, leading to anomalies of the 5d kk-theory, or alternatively giving rise to a theory with a 3-group. We also derive the symmetry TFT from the 5d low-energy Coulomb branch action coupled to backgrounds, generalizing the procedure and results of [44]. As a bonus we also recover the symmetry

TFT for 5d $SU(p)_q$ gauge theories with q Chern-Simons level and for the $B_N, B_N^{(1)}, B_N^{(2)}$ discussed in [9, 38, 45], which do not have a non-abelian gauge theory effective description at low-energy. Finally we comment on the fate of the 2-form symmetries of 6d rank 1 theories when we couple them do 6d dynamical gravity. Compatibly with [46] all global symmetries must be either gauged or broken. We provide evidence that when the 2-form symmetry is broken the surface defect charged under them are screened by the supergravity strings. This is detected by checking whether the Dirac quantization condition for the supergravity strings is violated or not [11]. In other examples the 2-form symmetry survives [47] as well as the diagonal combination of 1-forms symmetries. Therefore the full 3-group including the 1-form symmetry part should be gauged.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we derive the symmetry TFT for 6d (1,0) relative theories from their tensor branch, and we discuss what survives for absolute ones. In section 3 we derive the symmetry TFT holographically. In section 4 we discuss the 5d perspective on these SymTFT deriving the circle compactification and directly from the 5d Coulomb branch effective action. Finally in section 5 we discuss implication for 2 and 1-form symmetries in 6d when coupled to dynamical gravity.

2 2-form and 1-form symmetries TFT from the tensor branch

We start by deriving the Symmetry TFT for 2-form and 1-form symmetries of a generic $\mathcal{N} = (1,0)$ SCFTs in the tensor branch. The (2,0) case has been studied in [26, 29, 30], differently from these works we assume here the existence of a Wu-structure in the 7d space. Relaxing this condition will require the use of differential cohomology as in [27, 29–31, 37]. A tensor branch (pseudo)-Lagrangian description comes from taking the vev of the scalar component of the tensor multiplet such that $\langle \phi^i \rangle \neq 0$. The theory consists of N_T tensor multiplets, coupled to a quiver gauge theory. For each tensor multiplet there is an associated gauge group, which can also be trivial. The gauge groups are connected by bifundamental hypermultiplets, forming a quiverlike structure. Moreover there can be matter (hypermultiplets) rotating under certain flavor groups. The generic bosonic pseudo-action reads¹

$$S \supset 2\pi \int \Omega_{ij} \left(-\frac{1}{2} d\phi^i \wedge *d\phi^j - \frac{1}{4} h^i \wedge *h^j \right) + \Omega_{ij} \left(\phi^i \wedge \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr} \left(f^j \wedge *f^j \right) + b^i \wedge \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr} \left(f^j \wedge f^j \right) \right)$$
(2.1)

where ϕ^i and b^i are the scalars and antisymmetric 2-form fields of the dynamical tensor multiplets, whereas f^i are the field strength of the gauge vectors. The coupling is dictated by the Dirac pairing, Ω_{ij} , in the BPS integral string lattice of charges under b^i . Finally, we recall that (2.1) is a pseudo-action where we need to impose the (anti-)self duality constraint on $db^i = \pm *_6 db^i$. The Bianchi identity reads $dh^i = \frac{1}{4} \text{Tr}(f^i \wedge f^i)$, such that

$$h^i = db^i - \kappa CS_3(a^i) \tag{2.2}$$

for some integral Chern-Simons coefficient κ . Therefore there are N_T 2-form conserved currents given by $J_{(2)}^i = *_6 db_i$.

¹Where we used the notation for which the instanton density of SU(N), $\frac{1}{4}Tr(f \wedge f)$, has integer periods. Therefore we rescaled f by 2π and Tr is the normalized trace $Tr(f \wedge f) = \frac{tr_{fund}(f \wedge f)}{Ind(fund(SU(N)))}$, with $Ind(fund(SU(N))) = \frac{1}{2}$.

We now implement a similar strategy to [39]. We couple the theory to the background fields for the 2-form symmetries associated to each U(1) two-form gauge fields, b^i . We denote them by C_3^i . The bosonic action coupled to the 2-form symmetries background reads,

$$S\left[C_{3}^{i}\right] = 2\pi \int \Omega_{ij} \left(-\frac{1}{4} \left(h^{i} - C_{3}^{i}\right) \wedge * \left(h^{j} - C_{3}^{j}\right) + b^{i} \wedge \frac{1}{4} \operatorname{Tr}\left(f^{j} \wedge f^{j}\right) + db^{i} \wedge C_{3}^{j} - \kappa C S_{3}\left(a^{i}\right) \wedge C_{3}^{j}\right)$$

$$(2.3)$$

where we ignored the part involving the scalars and the kinetic term is invariant under the 2-form symmetry transformations,

$$b^i \to b^i + \Lambda^i_{(2)}, \qquad C^i_3 \to C^i_3 + d\Lambda^i_{(2)}$$

$$(2.4)$$

the third term is the coupling of C_3^i to the 2-form symmetry currents $J_{(2)}^i$, and the last one is a counterterm. This is the very low-energy effective action together with its symmetries and the backgrounds thereof. Accounting for the BPS strings charged under the dynamical b^i , the 2-form symmetry is generically broken to the following product

$$\Gamma^{(2)} = \prod_{i} \mathbb{Z}_{n_i} \tag{2.5}$$

which is dictated by the Smith normal form of the pairing in the string charge lattice Ω_{ij} , that is generically $\Omega_{\text{SNF}} = \text{diag}\{n_1, \ldots, n_i, \ldots\}$ [12].

6d theories, more specifically 6d SCFTs² on the tensor branch, can also have 1-form symmetries, which sit in the center of the gauge groups (let us suppose we have a single one) [11, 12, 49]. Moreover, because of the absence of massless gauge U(1) [50] the 1-form symmetry that sit in the center of the gauge group can be at most discrete. Coupling the theory to its B_2 background field we also have an additional term that is,

$$S\left[C_3^i, B_2^i\right] = S\left[C_3^i\right] + 2\pi \int \Omega_{ij} b^i \,\alpha_G^j \mathfrak{P}(B_2) \tag{2.6}$$

where $\mathfrak{P}(B_2)$ is the Pontryagin square due to the fractionalization of the instanton number when activating B_2 that sits in the center of the gauge groups [21]. Moreover, α_G^j are generically fractional coefficient that depend on the gauge groups as well as which subgroup of the associated center symmetry has been activated.

We can look now what happens when we apply the 2-form symmetry transformation (2.4). The action shift as follows,

$$S\left[C_3^i, B_2^i\right] \to S\left[C_3^i, B_2^i\right] + 2\pi \int \Omega_{ij} \left(\frac{1}{2}d\Lambda_{(2)}^i C_3^j + \Lambda_{(2)}^i \alpha_G^j \mathfrak{P}(B_2)\right)$$
(2.7)

This shift cannot be reabsorbed by adding additional counterterms, but instead can be reproduced by the following 7d action evaluated on the 6d boundary

$$S_{\text{SymTFT}} = 2\pi\Omega_{ij} \int \left(\frac{1}{2}C_3^i \, dC_3^j + C_3^i \, \alpha_G^j \mathfrak{P}(B_2)\right) \tag{2.8}$$

This action is the key to read off the true 1-form symmetry of the theory, i.e. by looking at boundary conditions of this action. Let us assume the theory has a $\Gamma^{(1)} = \mathbb{Z}_p$ symmetry,

 $^{^{2}}$ 6d SCFTs do not have continuous 1-form symmetries, [48].

whose background is B_2 . In order to avoid dangerous ambiguities, which depend on dynamical fields, due to symmetry transformations, we need to impose

$$B_2 \to B_2^j + d\Lambda_{(1)}^j, \qquad C_3^j \to C_3^j + d\Lambda_{(2)}^j - p\alpha_G \Lambda_{(1)}^j B_2 - p^2 \alpha_G \Lambda_{(1)}^j d\Lambda_{(1)}^j$$
(2.9)

This signals that the $\Gamma^{(2)}$ and $\Gamma^{(1)}$ combine in a 3-group structure, Z_3 , via a generalized short exact sequence implementing the extension $1 \to \Gamma^{(2)} \to Z_3 \to \Gamma^{(1)} \to 1$. Something similar happens in 4-dimension with the theta angle promoted to a dynamical axion field, [51, 52], since the dynamical b^i are higher-form version of an 4d axion field in 6d. This structure will proliferate also in the explicit examples of the next subsection.

2.1 Examples: rank 1 6d SCFTs

For the sake of concreteness, let us analyze the 6d SCFTs with a single tensor multiplet. [53]. The cases with nontrivial 1-form symmetry [11, 12, 49], $\Gamma^{(1)}$, are

Ω_{ii}	G	F	$\Gamma^{(1)}$	$lpha_G$	
3	${ m SU}(3)$	Ø	\mathbb{Z}_3	$\frac{1}{3}$	(2.10)
4	$\operatorname{Spin}(8)$	Ø	$\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$	$\left(\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}\right)$	
4	Spin(2k+4), k > 2	$\operatorname{Sp}(2k-4)$	\mathbb{Z}_2	$\frac{1}{2}$	
6	E_6	Ø	\mathbb{Z}_3	$\frac{2}{3}$	
8	E_7	Ø	\mathbb{Z}_2	$\frac{1}{2}$	

where for Spin(8) we have two α_G referring to the coefficients of $\mathfrak{P}(B_L + B_R)$ and $B_L \cup B_R$ respectively, and B_L, B_R are the background 1-form symmetry fields for the two \mathbb{Z}_2 factors. F denotes the flavor symmetry rotating matter hypermultiplets when they are present. We also restrict to the global structure choice for the gauge group that leads to the simply connected case and electric 1-form symmetry. The symmetry TFTs are determined by plugging in the data (2.10) into (2.8), for instance we have

$$S_{\text{SymTFT}} = 2\pi \int \left(\frac{1}{2} n C_3 dC_3 + 3 n C_3 \alpha_G \mathfrak{P}(B_2)\right)$$
(2.11)

with n = 3, 4, 6, 8. Specifying for concreteness to n = 3 the SymTFT reads,

$$S_{\text{SymTFT}} = 2\pi \int \left(\frac{1}{2} \, 3 \, C_3 \, dC_3 + 3 \, C_3 \, \frac{1}{3} \mathfrak{P}(B_2)\right) \tag{2.12}$$

where the 3-group symmetry transformation reads,

$$C_3 \to C_3 + d\Lambda_{(2)} - \Lambda_{(1)}B_2 - 3\Lambda_{(1)}d\Lambda_{(1)}.$$
 (2.13)

For all these cases, the symmetry TFT does not describe an absolute quantum field theory living at the boundary, i.e. such that it has a well defined partition function, but rather a relative field theory, which instead has a partition vector, see [9, 10, 12, 13, 26] for explicit example of relative vs absolute field theories. The important aspect is that a relative theory

is described by a non-invertible TQFT in the bulk, whereas the anomalies of an absolute theory are described by invertible TQFTs.

We now investigate whether the second term in (2.8), which can potentially lead to an invertible TQFT for absolute theories, describing therefore a mixed anomaly between the 1-form symmetry, $\Gamma^{(1)}$, and the 2-form symmetry, $\Gamma^{(2)}$. Many 6d (1,0) SCFTs coming from string theory constructions are actually relative theories. For instance, the rank 1 theories listed in (2.10) are all relative apart from the case with $\Omega_{ii} = n = p^2 = 4$, with p = 2. Similarly to the (2,0) case as discussed in [26], we can add a topological boundary term,

$$S_{\text{SymTFT}} \rightarrow S_{\text{SymTFT}} + \frac{2\pi}{2} \int_{\partial} 2(C_3 - B_3)Y$$
 (2.14)

where B_3 is a \mathbb{Z}_2 valued field living on the boundary, and Y is a U(1) valued 3-form field. The variation with respect to Y results in

$$C_3|_{\partial} = B_3 \tag{2.15}$$

that is a boundary condition consistent with gauge invariance, leading to $L = \mathbb{Z}_2$ as maximal isotropic subgroup. For these cases, the second term in (2.10) has always integer coefficient, due to $\oint C_3 \in \mathbb{Z}/2$, and it does not lead to an anomaly term for an absolute 6d SCFT. As in [26], the only anomaly theory that is left is

$$S_{\rm an} = \frac{2\pi}{2} \int 4B_3 dB_3. \tag{2.16}$$

We can also take the product of two theories and understand what boundary condition are allowed and what are the maximal isotropic subgroup that survive as 2-form symmetries for absolute theories. Let us focus on a product of two copies of the same rank 1 theory in (2.10). The maximal isotropic subgroup for the product of two $\Omega_{11} = 4$ theories is isomorphic to $L = \mathbb{Z}_2$ [26], and therefore since $\oint C_3 \in \mathbb{Z}/2$ the second term in (2.10) has integral coefficient. This works similarly in the case of $\Omega_{11} = 8$. So we conclude that the $C_3^i \wedge \alpha_G^j \mathfrak{P}(B_2)$ coupling does not lead to an anomaly for any absolute 6d (1,0) theories studied in this section, i.e. coming from rank 1 theories or product thereof. It would be interesting to study higher rank cases, which by a change of basis in the string charge lattice (or by a 7d generalization of the level rank duality [54]) [26], can be understood in terms of a single C_3 field theory and its 7d topological action, that should correspond to the nontrivial ($\neq 1$) diagonal entries in Ω_{SNF} [12]. We will see though how this turns out to be an anomaly under when we compactify the theory on S^1 .

3 SymTFT from holography

Since 1-form symmetries are rare in 6d, let us discuss a specific example which has one, and it is a straightforward generalization of the rank 1 Ω_{11} with G = Spin(2k + 4). The IIA brane system which describe this theory is

$$\begin{array}{c}
\mathfrak{sp}(k-2) \ 4N \ \text{NS5} \ \mathfrak{sp}(k-2) \\
\hline
\text{O6}^+/\text{D6} \ \text{O6}^+/\text{D6}
\end{array}$$
(3.1)

where the 6-directions x_0 to x_5 of the 10d space of IIA supergravity are in common. The horizontal direction is x_6 and the vertical direction on the plane where (3.1) lives represents $x_{7,8,9}$. The 6d theory in the tensor branch is a quiver given by

The 1-form symmetry is $\Gamma^{(1)} = \mathbb{Z}_2$ and it sits diagonally in all the center of the gauge groups, and under which the vector representation of *Spin* is not charged. The holographic dual solutions, which are the near-horizon limit of the brane set-up (3.1), have been discussed in [40, 41], and there are two features of these solutions that are important for our purposes. The first one is that the space is $\operatorname{AdS}_7 \times M_3$, where M_3 is a 3-dimensional closed manifold consisting of a \mathbb{RP}^2 fibered over an interval that is topologically equivalent to a 3-sphere. The second one is that there are two D6/O6⁺ sources at the two poles. Due to the presence of the O6 plane there is a non-trivial action on the 10-dimensional NSNS B-field of IIA, $B \to -B$ [55, 56]. This implies that the surviving modes are the one such that

$$2B = 0 \tag{3.3}$$

so the holonomies of B are integers modulo 2. In addition the net NS5-brane charge or equivalently the H flux quanta in the holographic dual are $\int_{M_3} H = 4N$. The symmetry TFT is derived by reducing the topological action of IIA supergravity together with contributions from brane sources, that in this case involves

$$S_{\rm top}^{\rm IIA} = 2\pi \int dC_3 \wedge C_3 \wedge H + \delta(\text{sources}) S_{CS}^{O6^+/D6}$$
(3.4)

where C_p are the RR potentials, and the 6-brane Chern-Simons action at large k D6branes reads,

$$S_{CS}^{O6^+/D6} = 2\pi \left(4k \int \sum_{p} C_p \wedge e^{-B} \right)$$
(3.5)

where we do not consider any gauge field living on the branes, as well as any nontrivial space-time curvature and R-symmetry backgrounds, see [57] for the complete action. The part that involves the 2-form symmetry background has 2 contributions. The first one come from the bulk topological action the second comes from the contributions of the D6 branes stacks present at the pole of the holographic solution. At large N and large k we have

$$S_{\text{symTFT}} = 2\pi \left(4N \int C_3 \wedge dC_3 + 4k \int C_3 \wedge \frac{1}{2}B \wedge B \right) \right).$$
(3.6)

This confirms the structure of the symmetry TFT action obtained from the tensor branch, and matches at large k the case (2.10) with n = 4 and N = 1, and G = Spin(2k + 4) with k odd.

4 A 5d perspective

We will now describe how to derive the symmetry TFT in 5d and then discuss the compactification of the 6d SymTFT on a circle. We will subsequently discuss some example of 5d theories and their SymTFTs derived in the Coulomb Branch, which match the results obtained in [38]. We shall see that in both cases, for some specific choices of boundary conditions the SymTFT reduce to an invertible theory that reproduces the anomaly theory of the absolute 5d SCFT.

4.1 Derivation from 5d

Let us now discuss how one generally couples the background field to a 5d action in the (partial) Coulomb branch. A generic Coulomb branch action reads,

$$S_{CB} = 2\pi \int \left(\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{G}_{ij}f^i \wedge *f^j + \frac{c_{ijk}}{6}a^i \wedge f^j \wedge f^k\right) + \dots$$
(4.1)

where we do not display the scalar and fermion parts, for $i = 1, \ldots, r$. The electric 1-form symmetry currents are given by $J_{2i} = \mathcal{G}_{ij}f^j + *_5\frac{c_{ijk}}{6}a^jf^k$. The presence of the CS term breaks the electric U(1) 1-form symmetry to a discrete subgroup depending on the levels c_{ijk} . This can be read off from the massive states that are decoupled and generate these CS terms via loop-corrections [12]. The magnetic 2-form symmetry currents are $J_3^i = *_5 f^i$. Similarly to Maxwell theory in 4d [39], we can now couple the previous action to the U(1) background fields for the 1-form symmetries and 2-form symmetries, B_2^i, B_3^i . The action reads,

$$S[B_{2}, B_{3}] = 2\pi \int \left(\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{G}_{ij}\left(f^{i} - B_{2}^{i}\right) \wedge *\left(f^{j} - B_{2}^{j}\right) + \mathcal{G}_{ij}B_{3}^{i} \wedge f^{j} + \frac{c_{ijk}}{6}A^{i}\left(f^{j} - B_{2}^{j}\right)\left(f^{k} - B_{2}^{k}\right) + \frac{1}{2}A_{\eta}\mathcal{G}_{ij}\left(f^{i} - B_{2}^{i}\right) \wedge \left(f^{j} - B_{2}^{j}\right)\right)$$

$$(4.2)$$

where generically we have many emergent U(1) currents due to the conservation equations $d(f^i \wedge f^j) = 0$. However, in certain cases such us theories with a low-energy non-abelian gauge theory description, there is a natural coupling to A_{η} background fields corresponding to U(1)_{η} symmetries, where η labels the diagonal blocks of \mathcal{G}_{ij} . These symmetries are the ones that contribute (sometime enhancing) to the symmetry of the UV SCFT.³ In addition, the first term is invariant under the 1-form symmetry action,

$$a^i \to a^i + \Lambda^i_{(1)}, \qquad B^i_2 \to B^i_2 + d\Lambda^i_{(1)}$$

$$(4.3)$$

whereas the second and third terms lead to a shift of the action, as well as $A_{\eta} \to A_{\eta} + \alpha_{\eta}$. All of those can be reabsorbed by,

$$S_{\text{symTFT}} = 2\pi \int \left(\mathcal{G}_{ij} B_3^i dB_2^j + \frac{c_{ijk}}{6} B_2^i B_2^j B_2^k + \frac{1}{2} A_\eta \mathcal{G}_{ij} B_2^i B_2^j \right)$$
(4.4)

³In a gauge theory, \mathcal{G} is the Cartan matrix of the algebra, and therefore it has a single block. A_{η} in this case corresponds to background of the Instanton symmetry associated to the topological current $J_I = \frac{1}{4} \text{Tr}(f \wedge f)$.

It is very important to notice that there are corrections that come from coupling the action to the first pontryagin class $p_1(TM_6)$, via the congruence discussed in [38],

$$xp_1 = 4x^3 \mod 24$$
 $x \in H^2(M_6, \mathbb{Z})$ (4.5)

The modified action then reads,

$$S_{\text{SymTFT}} = 2\pi \int \left(\mathcal{G}_{ij} B_3^i dB_2^j + \frac{c_{ijk}}{6} B_2^i B_2^j B_2^k + \frac{1}{24} c_i B_2^i p_1(TM_6) + \frac{1}{2} A_\eta \mathcal{G}_{ij} B_2^i B_2^j \right) \quad (4.6)$$

We will discuss later how to compute the c_i coefficient in various models. To manifestly see the 1-form symmetries and the anomalies, we need to use the Smith normal form of \mathcal{G}_{ij} , that reads,

$$\mathcal{G}^{\text{SNF}} = P\mathcal{G}T = \text{diag}(p_1, \dots, p_r) \tag{4.7}$$

where P and T are two $r \times r$ square matrices. The symmetry TFT then reads,

$$S_{\text{SymTFT}} = 2\pi \int \left(p_i \tilde{B}_3^i d\tilde{B}_2^i + \frac{1}{2} A_\eta \mathcal{G}_{ij} \left(\tilde{B}_2 P \right)^i \left(\tilde{B}_2 P \right)^j + \frac{c_{ijk}}{6} \left(\tilde{B}_2 P \right)^i \left(\tilde{B}_2 P \right)^j \left(\tilde{B}_2 P \right)^k + \frac{c_i}{24} \left(\tilde{B}_2 P \right)^i p_1 \left(T M_6 \right) \right)$$

$$(4.8)$$

where the last term is relevant by congruence [38]. So for the explicit example we just need to compute the integral coefficients p_i, c_i, c_{ijk} .

4.2 SymTFT for 6d theories from compactification

We now compute the compactification on S^1 of a given SymTFT for a general 6d SCFT disucussed in section 2. This will lead to the symmetry TFT of the 5d kk-theory that uplift to 6d in the UV. The reduction ansatz reads

$$C_3^i = B_3^i + \omega \wedge \hat{B}_2^i, \qquad B_2^i = B_2^i$$
(4.9)

where $\omega = d\beta - A$ with A the background field for the isometry of the S^1 direction. Plugging this into (2.8) and integrating over S^1 , we get

$$S_{\text{SymTFT}} = 2\pi\Omega_{ij} \int \left(\hat{B}_2^i \, dB_3^j + \hat{B}_2^i \, \alpha_G^j \mathfrak{P}(B_2) + \frac{1}{2} dA \hat{B}^i \, \hat{B}^j \right). \tag{4.10}$$

For simplicity let us focus on the single tensor cases (2.10) with $\Omega_{11} = n$,

$$S_{\text{SymTFT}} = 2\pi n \int \left(\hat{B}_2 \, dB_3 + \hat{B}_2 \, \alpha_G \mathfrak{P}(B_2) + \frac{1}{2} dA \hat{B}_2 \, \hat{B}_2 \right), \tag{4.11}$$

where we recall that we choose the global structure for the gauge group such that the group is the simply connected version. Let us study two particularly meaningful boundary conditions of this action. The first one is given by varying the action w.r.t. B_3 , and it reads

$$ndB_2 = 0 \tag{4.12}$$

This gives rise to a absolute theory with $\Gamma_{\text{full}}^{(1)} = \mathbb{Z}_n \times \Gamma^{(1)}$, where $\Gamma^{(1)}$ is given in (2.10). In this case the periodicities of \hat{B}_2 are in \mathbb{Z}/n . What is left is an invertible field TFT action that reads,

$$S_{\rm an} = 2\pi n \int \left(\hat{B}_2 \,\alpha_G \mathfrak{P}(B_2) + \frac{1}{2} dA \hat{B}_2 \,\hat{B}_2 \right) \tag{4.13}$$

which corresponds to the anomaly of the absolute 5d kk-theory. The second boundary condition which is significant to study is the variation of the action w.r.t. \hat{B}_2 . The boundary condition implies,

$$n(dB_3 + \alpha_G \mathfrak{P}(B_2)) = 0 \tag{4.14}$$

that is a differential operation associated to the short exact sequence $1 \to \Gamma^{(2)} \to Z_3 \to \Gamma^{(1)} \to 1$, and this realizes a 3-group structure for the theory at the boundary. This structure is already present in the relative theory and implied by gauge invariance of the symmetry TFT action (2.9).

4.3 SymTFT for rank 1 6d theories from 5d

For the 6d rank 1 theories compactified on S^1 , the constant part of \mathcal{G} is given by the affine Cartan matrix of the gauge groups (2.10), and the Chern-Simons level c_{ijk} can be read off from an (affine) gauge theory prepotential, [58, 59]. We recall that the prepotential is a cubic function of the Coulomb branch scalars and it is given by, [24, 60, 61].

$$\mathcal{F} = \left(\frac{1}{2g_{YM}^2}C_{ij}\phi^i\phi^j + \frac{\kappa}{6}\,d_{ij\ell}\phi^i\phi^j\phi^\ell\right) + \frac{1}{12}\left(\sum_{\alpha\in\Phi_\mathfrak{g}}|\alpha_i\,\phi^i|^3 - \sum_{\mathbf{R}_f}\sum_{\lambda\in\mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{R}_f}}|\lambda_i\,\phi^i + m_f|^3\right),\tag{4.15}$$

where $d_{ij\ell} = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}_{\text{fund}} (T_i(T_j T_\ell + T_\ell T_j)), C_{ij} = \operatorname{tr}(T_i T_j)$, and κ is the classical Chern-Simons level, which is half-integer quantized. $\Phi_{\mathfrak{g}}$ are the roots of \mathfrak{g} , and $\mathbf{W}_{\mathbf{R}_f}$ are weights of the representation \mathbf{R}_f if matter (hypermultiplets) with mass m_f is present. Then we have

$$\mathcal{G}_{ij}^{\text{full}} = \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{F}}{\partial \phi^i \partial \phi^j},$$

$$c_{ij\ell} = \frac{\partial^3 \mathcal{F}}{\partial \phi^i \partial \phi^j \partial \phi^\ell}.$$
(4.16)

In our case we are interested in the constant values of $\mathcal{G}_{ij} = \hat{C}_{ij}$ and $c_{ij\ell}$. Finally, the c_i coefficient can be computed by integrating our the fermions that are superpartner of the W-boson. The 1-loop Feynman diagram with these massive fermions running in the loop generates also mixed gravitational/gauge Chern-Simons terms, when the gravitational backgrounds are turned on [62, 63].

For example if we specify G = Spin(8) we get,

$$\mathcal{G} = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & -1 & 2 & -1 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.17)

The Smith normal form reads,

$$\mathcal{G}^{\text{SNF}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 1 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 2 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad P = \begin{pmatrix} 2 \ 2 \ 3 \ 2 \ 0 \\ 1 \ 1 \ 2 \ 1 \ 0 \\ 1 \ 0 \ 2 \ 1 \ 0 \\ 0 \ -1 \ 0 \ 1 \ 0 \\ 1 \ 1 \ 2 \ 1 \ 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.18)

We also notice that (4.18) has a 0 diagonal element. This is due to the fact that in the Coulomb branch we see a U(1) $\times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ 1-form symmetry where the U(1) is broken by the massive instanton particle to \mathbb{Z}_4 , and the \mathbb{Z}_2 's correspond to the left and right center symmetry of Spin(8). c_{ijk} can be read off by plugging into (4.15) the affine root lattice. The non-vanishing terms are,

$$c_{133} = c_{233} = c_{433} = c_{533} = -2, \qquad c_{111} = c_{222} = c_{333} = c_{444} = c_{555} = 8.$$
 (4.19)

We can now plug into (4.8) the matrices (4.18) as well as the CS numbers (4.19). The symmetry TFT then reads,⁴

$$S_{\text{SymTFT}} = 2\pi \int \left(\tilde{B}_2^1 d\tilde{B}_3^1 + \tilde{B}_2^2 d\tilde{B}_3^2 + 2\tilde{B}_2^3 d\tilde{B}_3^3 + 2\tilde{B}_2^4 d\tilde{B}_3^4 + 4\tilde{B}_2^5 d\tilde{B}_3^5 + 2dA\tilde{B}_2^5 \tilde{B}_2^5 \tilde{B}_2^5 + 8\tilde{B}_2^5 \tilde{B}_2^3 \tilde{B}_2^4 + 8\tilde{B}_2^5 \tilde{B}_2^3 \tilde{B}_2^3 + 8\tilde{B}_2^5 \tilde{B}_2^4 \tilde{B}_2^4 \right)$$

$$(4.20)$$

where in this action we show the \mathbb{Z}_4 SymTFT, which is visible via a careful computation of the charge matrix as in [9, 10]. This includes the charge under the center symmetries of the instanton particles, which are also visible through (mixed) Chern-Simons level in the Coulomb branch. By varying this action w.r.t. the \tilde{B}_3 fields we obtain

$$2d\tilde{B}_2^3 = 0, \qquad 2d\tilde{B}_2^4 = 0, \qquad 4d\tilde{B}_2^5 = 0. \tag{4.21}$$

Thus, we have that \tilde{B}_2^3 and \tilde{B}_2^4 have $\mathbb{Z}/2$ periodicities, whereas \tilde{B}_2^5 has $\mathbb{Z}/4$ periods. By choosing the boundary conditions (4.21) the second part of the action, which contains the cubic couplings, (4.20) becomes an invertible theory that corresponds to the anomaly of the absolute 5d KK-theory. This also coincides with the circle reduction of the symmetry TFT for the 6d theory in the tensor branch described in the previous section 4.3. Analogous results were obtained in [44, 64] by using M/F-theory geometry.

4.4 5d $SU(p)_q$ gauge theories

Using the action (4.8) we can also derive the symmetry TFT for 5d $SU(p)_q$ gauge theories. In order to do this we need to evaluate \mathcal{G} , which in this case corresponds to the Cartan of the \mathfrak{su}_p gauge algebra. Whereas the c_{ijk} can be computed from the prepotential (4.15). The coefficient c_i read [62, 63],

$$c_i = \frac{\partial}{\partial \phi^i} \sum_{\alpha \in \Phi_{\mathfrak{g}}} |\alpha_j \, \phi^j| \tag{4.22}$$

⁴Where the upper indices are not powers but rather labels corresponding to B_2^i . This notation is used through the entire paper.

Therefore, the smith normal form $\mathcal{G}^{SNF} = P\mathcal{G}T$ reads,

$$\mathcal{G}^{\text{SNF}} = \text{diag}(1, \dots, p), \qquad P = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \ 1 \ \dots \ 1 \ 1 \\ 1 \ 2 \ \dots \ 2 \ 2 \\ \vdots \ \vdots \ \ddots \ \vdots \ \vdots \\ 1 \ 2 \ \dots \ p - 1 \ p - 1 \\ 1 \ 2 \ \dots \ p - 1 \ p \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.23)

The Chern-Simons levels have the following non-zero values,

$$c_{iii} = 8,$$
 $c_{iii+1} = (p - 2i - 2) + q,$ $c_{ii+1i+1} = (2i - p) - q,$ $c_i = 4.$ (4.24)

In the presence of a non-trivial classical Chern-Simons level the 1-form symmetry is further broken to $\Gamma^{(1)} = \mathbb{Z}_{\text{gcd}(p,q)}$ [9, 10]. Plugging into (4.8) the matrices, (4.23), and the levels (4.24), we obtain

$$S_{\text{SymTFT}} = 2\pi \int \gcd(p,q) B_2 dB_3 + \frac{qp(p-1)(p-2)}{6} B_2 B_2 B_2 + \frac{p(p-1)}{2} dA B_2 B_2 \quad (4.25)$$

where we use the congruence (4.5).⁵ The coefficient of the first term is gcd(p,q) instead of p, as the classical Chern-Simons level dictates. This can be computed by including in the \mathcal{G} matrix the charges of the instanton particle under the $U(1)^{(1)}$ center of the U(1) Coulomb branch gauge groups, that is

$$\mathcal{M}_{iJ} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ q - p - 2 \\ p - q \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.26)

where J = 0, 1, ..., p. The SNF form of this matrix provides information about the flavor symmetry rank as well.

When varying the action w.r.t. B_3 we get $gcd(p,q)dB_2 = 0$ and periodicites of the B_2 fields are then $\frac{\mathbb{Z}}{gcd(p,q)}$. The term $\frac{p(p-1)}{2}dAB_2B_2$ corresponds to a mixed anomaly of the absolute theory between the U(1) instanton symmetry and $\Gamma^{(1)} = \mathbb{Z}_{gcd(p,q)}$ discussed in [25]. The cubic term is instead a 't Hooft anomaly for $\Gamma^{(1)} = \mathbb{Z}_{gcd(p,q)}$ studied from the non-abelian gauge theory point of view in [26]. The full anomaly theory coincides with the one obtained in [25, 26, 38].

4.5 5d "non-Lagrangian" theories

We can apply the Coulomb branch method to compute anomalies of 5d SCFTs with no non-abelian gauge theory description in the IR. These are for instance the theories analyzed

 $^{{}^{5}}$ In presenting the final expression, we also removed the ${}^{\circ}$ from the 1-form symmetry backgrounds *B*-fields, which are the result of the change of basis to Smith normal form, in order to not overload the notation. We will do this in the rest of the paper.

in [9, 38, 45] called $B_N, B_N^{(1)}, B_N^{(2)}$. Even if these theories do not have a non-abelian gauge theory description they do admit a IR Coulomb branch Lagrangian, that is fixed by enough knowledge of the electric charges, which will fix \mathcal{G}_{ij} , as well as the Chern-Simons level c_{ijk} . We can read off \mathcal{G}_{ij} and c_{ijk} from the intersection numbers computed via toric geometry [9, 45]. Plugging in these data (4.8) we are able to reproduce the expression in [38]. Let us discuss how this work in an explicit example, such us B_3 , where from toric geometry we can read

$$\mathcal{G}_{11} = 3, \qquad c_{111} = 9, \qquad c_1 = 1.$$
 (4.27)

The coefficient c_1 geometrically corresponds to the intersection between the compact surface class S and the second Chern-class of the toric Calabi-Yau [63]. This implies the following symmetry TFT action,

$$S_{\text{SymTFT}} = 2\pi \int 3B_2 dB_3 + \frac{3}{2}B_2 B_2 B_2 + \frac{1}{24}B_2 p_1(TM_6)$$
(4.28)

By varying with respect of B_3 the periodicites of B_3 become $\frac{\mathbb{Z}}{3}$, we then get an anomaly action that is

$$S_{\text{Anomaly}} = 2\pi \int \frac{1}{9} B_2 B_2 B_2$$
 (4.29)

where we used the congurance (4.5).

5 Fate of 2-form symmetries in 6d supergravity

Let us finally comment on what happens to higher-form symmetries of the 6d rank-1 theories when we consistently couple them to 6d dynamical gravity. As anticipated this can be done consistently because there exist string theory constructions realizing this coupling. The theories obtained via this construction are called non-Higgsable clusters (NHCs), which are engineered in F-theory via compactification on Calabi-Yau elliptically fibered over Hirzebrouch surfaces \mathbb{F}_n [65]. The intersection pairing reads,

$$\Omega = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ -1 & n \end{pmatrix} \tag{5.1}$$

with n > 2. This consists of coupling the theories in (2.10) to a self-dual tensor field which is present in the gravity multiplet, where the intersection pairing is given above. The breaking of the 2-form symmetry $\Gamma^{(2)} = \mathbb{Z}_n$ associated to the antiself-dual tensor with self-pairing n is given by a mechanism similar to the one described in [11]. For instance, we can check whether backgrounds for $\Gamma^{(2)}$, C_3^2 , such that the periodicities of dC_3 are fractional and they have \mathbb{Z}/n periods, are consistent. In the effective action we have the coupling $\Omega_{ij}b^i dC_3^j = b_1 dC_3^2$, and the Bianchi identity reads. This coupling measures the induced charged by the background fields on the BPS strings, and therefore, because the BPS string lattice needs to be integrally quantized by Dirac quantization, it must have integer coefficient if the integrand has integral periods. Thus, we conclude that the activation of the background field for $\Gamma^{(2)} = \mathbb{Z}_n$ violates Dirac quantization of the BPS string charges, charged under the self-dual tensor of the gravity multiplet in 6d, also called supergravity strings. Our proposal provides a field theory explanation of the string theoretic/geometric observation in [47]. Another equivalent way of phrasing this mechanism is that the 2-form symmetry is broken since the surface defect are screened by the supergravity strings. This can also be deduced by computing the Smith normal form of (5.1), which result in a trivial 2-form symmetry. Since the supergravity strings are tensionless only in the UV (or at infinite distances), and do not lead to any massless state at low-energy the symmetries can be treated as approximate in the sense of [66], whereas they are broken at a energy below the Plank scale.

Another interesting model discussed in [11] is given is specified by the following intersection pairing,

$$\Omega = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 & -5 \\ -1 & 3 & 0 \\ -5 & 0 & -75 \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.2)

where we have an SU(3) associated with the tensor multiplet of self pairing 3 and another SU(3) on the one with self pairing -15 with no massless matter. In the tensor branch action coupled to backgrounds we have the following relevant coupling terms

$$S \supset 2\pi \int -b_1 \left(\alpha_{\mathrm{SU}(3)} \mathfrak{P}\left(B_2^1\right) + 5\alpha_{\mathrm{SU}(3)} \mathfrak{P}\left(B_2^3\right) + dC_3^1 + 5dC_3^3 \right) + \dots \right)$$
(5.3)

where b^i are dynamical 2-form tensor fields. This couplings tell us that the diagonal 1-form symmetry $\mathbb{Z}_3^{\text{diag}} \in Z(\mathrm{SU}(3) \times \mathrm{SU}(3))$, whose background is $B_2^1 = B_2^3$, together with a $\Gamma^{(2)} = \mathbb{Z}_3$, with background $C_3^1 = C_3^3$, symmetry background do not violate Dirac quantization for the supergravity strings. This means that the entire 3-group symmetry should be gauged combining the geometric evidence of the constructions in both [11] and [47].

Acknowledgments

We thank Pietro Benetti Genolini, Ling lin, Sakura Schäfer-Nameki, Yinan Wang for discussions and correspondence. FA is supported by the Albert Einstein Center for fundamental physics at Bern university, the Swiss National Science Foundation and in part by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Framework: ERC grant 682608.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- D. Gaiotto, A. Kapustin, N. Seiberg and B. Willett, *Generalized Global Symmetries*, JHEP 02 (2015) 172 [arXiv:1412.5148] [INSPIRE].
- T. Pantev and E. Sharpe, Notes on gauging noneffective group actions, hep-th/0502027 [INSPIRE].

- [3] O. Aharony, N. Seiberg and Y. Tachikawa, *Reading between the lines of four-dimensional gauge theories*, *JHEP* **08** (2013) 115 [arXiv:1305.0318] [INSPIRE].
- [4] F. Benini, P.-S. Hsin and N. Seiberg, Comments on global symmetries, anomalies, and duality in (2+1)d, JHEP 04 (2017) 135 [arXiv:1702.07035] [INSPIRE].
- [5] P.-S. Hsin, H.T. Lam and N. Seiberg, Comments on One-Form Global Symmetries and Their Gauging in 3d and 4d, SciPost Phys. 6 (2019) 039 [arXiv:1812.04716] [INSPIRE].
- [6] A. Cherman, T. Jacobson, Y. Tanizaki and M. Ünsal, Anomalies, a mod 2 index, and dynamics of 2d adjoint QCD, SciPost Phys. 8 (2020) 072 [arXiv:1908.09858] [INSPIRE].
- [7] D. Gaiotto, A. Kapustin, Z. Komargodski and N. Seiberg, Theta, Time Reversal, and Temperature, JHEP 05 (2017) 091 [arXiv:1703.00501] [INSPIRE].
- [8] M.M. Anber and E. Poppitz, On the global structure of deformed Yang-Mills theory and QCD(adj) on $\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{S}^1$, JHEP 10 (2015) 051 [arXiv:1508.00910] [INSPIRE].
- [9] D.R. Morrison, S. Schäfer-Nameki and B. Willett, *Higher-Form Symmetries in 5d*, *JHEP* 09 (2020) 024 [arXiv:2005.12296] [INSPIRE].
- [10] F. Albertini, M. Del Zotto, I. García Etxebarria and S.S. Hosseini, Higher Form Symmetries and M-theory, JHEP 12 (2020) 203 [arXiv:2005.12831] [INSPIRE].
- [11] F. Apruzzi, M. Dierigl and L. Lin, The fate of discrete 1-form symmetries in 6d, SciPost Phys. 12 (2022) 047 [arXiv:2008.09117] [INSPIRE].
- [12] L. Bhardwaj and S. Schäfer-Nameki, Higher-form symmetries of 6d and 5d theories, JHEP 02 (2021) 159 [arXiv:2008.09600] [INSPIRE].
- [13] M. Del Zotto, J.J. Heckman, D.S. Park and T. Rudelius, On the Defect Group of a 6D SCFT, Lett. Math. Phys. 106 (2016) 765 [arXiv:1503.04806] [INSPIRE].
- [14] F. Apruzzi, L. Lin and C. Mayrhofer, Phases of 5d SCFTs from M-/F-theory on Non-Flat Fibrations, JHEP 05 (2019) 187 [arXiv:1811.12400] [INSPIRE].
- [15] F. Apruzzi, C. Lawrie, L. Lin, S. Schäfer-Nameki and Y.-N. Wang, Fibers add Flavor, Part I: Classification of 5d SCFTs, Flavor Symmetries and BPS States, JHEP 11 (2019) 068 [arXiv:1907.05404] [INSPIRE].
- [16] F. Apruzzi, S. Schäfer-Nameki, L. Bhardwaj and J. Oh, The Global Form of Flavor Symmetries and 2-Group Symmetries in 5d SCFTs, SciPost Phys. 13 (2022) 024 [arXiv:2105.08724] [INSPIRE].
- [17] L. Bhardwaj, Flavor symmetry of 5d SCFTs. Part I. General setup, JHEP 09 (2021) 186
 [arXiv:2010.13230] [INSPIRE].
- [18] I. García Etxebarria, B. Heidenreich and D. Regalado, IIB flux non-commutativity and the global structure of field theories, JHEP 10 (2019) 169 [arXiv:1908.08027] [INSPIRE].
- [19] C. Córdova and T.T. Dumitrescu, Candidate Phases for SU(2) Adjoint QCD₄ with Two Flavors from $\mathcal{N} = 2$ Supersymmetric Yang-Mills Theory, arXiv:1806.09592 [INSPIRE].
- [20] C. Córdova, D.S. Freed, H.T. Lam and N. Seiberg, Anomalies in the Space of Coupling Constants and Their Dynamical Applications I, SciPost Phys. 8 (2020) 001
 [arXiv:1905.09315] [INSPIRE].
- [21] C. Córdova, D.S. Freed, H.T. Lam and N. Seiberg, Anomalies in the Space of Coupling Constants and Their Dynamical Applications II, SciPost Phys. 8 (2020) 002
 [arXiv:1905.13361] [INSPIRE].

- [22] C. Córdova and K. Ohmori, Anomaly Obstructions to Symmetry Preserving Gapped Phases, arXiv:1910.04962 [INSPIRE].
- [23] A.A. Cox, E. Poppitz and F.D. Wandler, The mixed 0-form/1-form anomaly in Hilbert space: pouring the new wine into old bottles, JHEP 10 (2021) 069 [arXiv:2106.11442] [INSPIRE].
- [24] K.A. Intriligator, D.R. Morrison and N. Seiberg, Five-dimensional supersymmetric gauge theories and degenerations of Calabi-Yau spaces, Nucl. Phys. B 497 (1997) 56
 [hep-th/9702198] [INSPIRE].
- [25] P. Benetti Genolini and L. Tizzano, Instantons, symmetries and anomalies in five dimensions, JHEP 04 (2021) 188 [arXiv:2009.07873] [INSPIRE].
- [26] S. Gukov, P.-S. Hsin and D. Pei, Generalized global symmetries of T[M] theories. Part I, JHEP 04 (2021) 232 [arXiv:2010.15890] [INSPIRE].
- [27] D.S. Freed and C. Teleman, Relative quantum field theory, Commun. Math. Phys. 326 (2014)
 459 [arXiv:1212.1692] [INSPIRE].
- [28] D. Gaiotto and J. Kulp, Orbifold groupoids, JHEP 02 (2021) 132 [arXiv:2008.05960].
- [29] S. Monnier, Higher Abelian Dijkgraaf-Witten Theory, Lett. Math. Phys. 105 (2015) 1321 [arXiv:1502.04706].
- [30] S. Monnier, The anomaly field theories of six-dimensional (2,0) superconformal theories, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 22 (2018) 2035 [1706.01903].
- [31] D.S. Freed, Anomalies and Invertible Field Theories, Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 88 (2014) 25 [arXiv:1404.7224] [INSPIRE].
- [32] E. Witten, AdS/CFT correspondence and topological field theory, JHEP 12 (1998) 012 [hep-th/9812012] [INSPIRE].
- [33] O. Aharony and E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and the center of the gauge group, JHEP 11 (1998) 018 [hep-th/9807205] [INSPIRE].
- [34] D.J. Gross and H. Ooguri, Aspects of large N gauge theory dynamics as seen by string theory, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 106002 [hep-th/9805129] [INSPIRE].
- [35] O. Bergman, Y. Tachikawa and G. Zafrir, *Generalized symmetries and holography in ABJM-type theories*, *JHEP* **07** (2020) 077 [arXiv:2004.05350] [INSPIRE].
- [36] I. Bah, F. Bonetti and R. Minasian, Discrete and higher-form symmetries in SCFTs from wrapped M5-branes, JHEP 03 (2021) 196 [arXiv:2007.15003] [INSPIRE].
- [37] F. Apruzzi, M. van Beest, D.S.W. Gould and S. Schäfer-Nameki, Holography, 1-form symmetries, and confinement, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 066005 [arXiv:2104.12764] [INSPIRE].
- [38] F. Apruzzi, F. Bonetti, I.G. Etxebarria, S.S. Hosseini and S. Schäfer-Nameki, Symmetry TFTs from String Theory, arXiv:2112.02092 [INSPIRE].
- [39] C. Córdova, T.T. Dumitrescu and K. Intriligator, Exploring 2-Group Global Symmetries, JHEP 02 (2019) 184 [arXiv:1802.04790] [INSPIRE].
- [40] F. Apruzzi, M. Fazzi, D. Rosa and A. Tomasiello, All AdS₇ solutions of type-II supergravity, JHEP 04 (2014) 064 [arXiv:1309.2949] [INSPIRE].
- [41] F. Apruzzi and M. Fazzi, AdS₇/CFT₆ with orientifolds, JHEP 01 (2018) 124
 [arXiv:1712.03235] [INSPIRE].

- [42] D. Belov and G.W. Moore, Conformal blocks for AdS₅ singletons, hep-th/0412167 [INSPIRE].
- [43] J.M. Maldacena, G.W. Moore and N. Seiberg, *D-brane charges in five-brane backgrounds*, *JHEP* 10 (2001) 005 [hep-th/0108152] [INSPIRE].
- [44] M. Cvetič, M. Dierigl, L. Lin and H.Y. Zhang, Higher-form symmetries and their anomalies in M-/F-theory duality, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 126019 [arXiv:2106.07654] [INSPIRE].
- [45] J. Eckhard, S. Schäfer-Nameki and Y.-N. Wang, Trifectas for T_N in 5d, JHEP 07 (2020) 199 [arXiv:2004.15007] [INSPIRE].
- [46] T. Banks and N. Seiberg, Symmetries and Strings in Field Theory and Gravity, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 084019 [arXiv:1011.5120] [INSPIRE].
- [47] A.P. Braun, M. Larfors and P.-K. Oehlmann, Gauged 2-form symmetries in 6D SCFTs coupled to gravity, JHEP 12 (2021) 132 [arXiv:2106.13198] [INSPIRE].
- [48] C. Cordova, T.T. Dumitrescu and K. Intriligator, 2-Group Global Symmetries and Anomalies in Six-Dimensional Quantum Field Theories, JHEP 04 (2021) 252 [arXiv:2009.00138] [INSPIRE].
- [49] F. Apruzzi, L. Bhardwaj, D.S.W. Gould and S. Schäfer-Nameki, 2-Group symmetries and their classification in 6d, SciPost Phys. 12 (2022) 098 [arXiv:2110.14647] [INSPIRE].
- [50] A. Hanany and E. Witten, Type IIB superstrings, BPS monopoles, and three-dimensional gauge dynamics, Nucl. Phys. B 492 (1997) 152 [hep-th/9611230] [INSPIRE].
- [51] N. Seiberg, Y. Tachikawa and K. Yonekura, Anomalies of Duality Groups and Extended Conformal Manifolds, PTEP 2018 (2018) 073B04 [arXiv:1803.07366] [INSPIRE].
- [52] T.D. Brennan and C. Cordova, Axions, higher-groups, and emergent symmetry, JHEP 02 (2022) 145 [arXiv:2011.09600] [INSPIRE].
- [53] M. Bertolini, P.R. Merkx and D.R. Morrison, On the global symmetries of 6D superconformal field theories, JHEP 07 (2016) 005 [arXiv:1510.08056] [INSPIRE].
- [54] P.-S. Hsin and N. Seiberg, Level/rank Duality and Chern-Simons-Matter Theories, JHEP 09 (2016) 095 [arXiv:1607.07457] [INSPIRE].
- [55] O. Bergman, E.G. Gimon and S. Sugimoto, Orientifolds, RR torsion, and k-theory, JHEP 05 (2001) 047 [hep-th/0103183] [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Hanany and B. Kol, On orientifolds, discrete torsion, branes and M-theory, JHEP 06 (2000) 013 [hep-th/0003025] [INSPIRE].
- [57] J.F. Morales, C.A. Scrucca and M. Serone, Anomalous couplings for D-branes and O-planes, Nucl. Phys. B 552 (1999) 291 [hep-th/9812071] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M. Del Zotto, J.J. Heckman and D.R. Morrison, 6D SCFTs and Phases of 5D Theories, JHEP 09 (2017) 147 [arXiv:1703.02981] [INSPIRE].
- [59] F. Apruzzi, S. Schäfer-Nameki and Y.-N. Wang, 5d SCFTs from Decoupling and Gluing, JHEP 08 (2020) 153 [arXiv:1912.04264] [INSPIRE].
- [60] C. Closset, M. Del Zotto and V. Saxena, Five-dimensional SCFTs and gauge theory phases: an M-theory/type IIA perspective, SciPost Phys. 6 (2019) 052 [arXiv:1812.10451] [INSPIRE].
- [61] H. Hayashi, S.-S. Kim, K. Lee and F. Yagi, Complete prepotential for $5d \mathcal{N} = 1$ superconformal field theories, JHEP **02** (2020) 074 [arXiv:1912.10301] [INSPIRE].

- [62] S. Katz, H.-C. Kim, H.-C. Tarazi and C. Vafa, Swampland Constraints on 5d $\mathcal{N} = 1$ Supergravity, JHEP 07 (2020) 080 [arXiv:2004.14401] [INSPIRE].
- [63] F. Bonetti, T.W. Grimm and S. Hohenegger, Exploring 6D origins of 5D supergravities with Chern-Simons terms, JHEP 05 (2013) 124 [arXiv:1303.2661] [INSPIRE].
- [64] M. Hubner, D.R. Morrison, S. Schäfer-Nameki and Y.-N. Wang, Generalized Symmetries in F-theory and the Topology of Elliptic Fibrations, SciPost Phys. 13 (2022) 030 [arXiv:2203.10022] [INSPIRE].
- [65] D.R. Morrison and W. Taylor, Classifying bases for 6D F-theory models, Central Eur. J. Phys. 10 (2012) 1072 [arXiv:1201.1943] [INSPIRE].
- [66] C. Cordova, K. Ohmori and T. Rudelius, *Generalized Symmetry Breaking Scales and Weak Gravity Conjectures*, arXiv:2202.05866 [INSPIRE].